IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) SUPREME COURT 15-1630
)
 JOHNNIE RAY STEIGER,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR SCOTT COUNTY
HONORABLE DOUGLAS McDONALD (TRIAL AND PLEA) AND
HONORABLE CHRISTINE DALTON (SENTENCING), JUDGES

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH
State Appellate Defender

NAN JENNISCH
Assistant Appellate Defender
njennisch@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the district court erred in accepting the defendant's stipulation in SRCR369368 to prior convictions for purposes of the sentencing enhancement as third or subsequent offense under Iowa Code section 901A.2(2). The court failed to engage in a sufficient colloquy to ensure that the defendant's affirmation was entered voluntarily and intelligently.

Authorities

State v. Meron, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d)

State v. Brady, 442 N.W.2d 57, 58 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d 687, 693 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Peterson, No. 11-1409, 2012 WL 3860730, *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 6, 2012)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9)

State v. McBride, 625 N.W.2d 372, 374-75 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001)

State v. Loye, 670 N.W.2d 141, 151 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)

State v. Sisco, 169 N.W.2d 542, 546 (Iowa 1969)

Iowa Code § 709.9 (2015)

Iowa Code § 903.1(1)(b) (2015)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(1)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(2)

Iowa Code § 901A.2(2) (2015)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(4)-(5)

State v. Rodriguez, 804 N.W.2d 844, 849 (Iowa 2011)

II. Whether the defendant's guilty plea to the offense of indecent exposure, in violation of Iowa Code section 709.9, in SR369403 was not entered knowingly and voluntarily because the district court did not substantially comply with the requirements of Rule 2.8(2)(b)?

Authorities

State v. Meron, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a)

State v. Loye, 670 N.W.2d 141, 150 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

State v. Ramirez, 636 N.W.2d 740, 741–42 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Kirchoff, 452 N.W.2d 801, 804 (Iowa 1990)

State v. Hook, 623 N.W.2d 865, 871 (Iowa 2001), *abrogated in part on other grounds by* State v. Barnes, 652 N.W. 466, 468 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(2)-(3)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised herein involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Defendant-Appellant, Johnnie Ray Steiger, appeals following his convictions for indecent exposure in two separate cases, SRCR369368 and SRCR369403. The Honorable Douglas McDonald presided at the bench trial in SRCR369368 and the guilty plea in SRCR369403. The Honorable Christine Dalton presided over the sentencing in both cases.

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On May 20, 2015, the State filed a trial information in SRCR369368 charging Steiger with the crime of indecent exposure, third or subsequent offense, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.9 and 901A.2(2), for acts occurring on April 15, 2015. (Trial Information SRCR369368 – 5/20/15) (App. pp. 5-7). On that

same date, the State filed a trial information in a separate case, SRCR369403, charging Steiger with the same crime for acts occurring on February 27, 2015. (Trial Information SRCR369403 – 5/20/15) (App. pp. 5-7). On July 10, 2015, Steiger waived his right to a jury trial. (Stipulation on PTC – 6/10/15; Record on PTC – 6/10/15) (App. pp. 35-39).¹ A

¹ No written waiver of jury trial was filed. Further, there does not appear to be a record of an in-court colloquy. The court filings on June 10, 2015, simply indicate that Steiger waived his right to jury trial. (Stipulation on PTC – 6/10/15; Record on PTC – 6/10/15) (App. pp. 35-39). Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.17(1) provides that criminal “[c]ases required to be tried to a jury shall be so tried unless the defendant voluntarily and intelligently waives a jury trial in writing and on the record...” Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.17(1). The phrase “on the record” as used in rule 2.17(1) requires “some in-court colloquy or personal contact between the court and the defendant, to ensure the defendant’s waiver is knowing, voluntary, and intelligent.” State v. Liddell, 672 N.W.2d 805, 812 (Iowa 2003) A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel due to counsel’s failure to ensure compliance with the jury-trial waiver provisions of Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.17(1) must show, not only that counsel breached an essential duty, but must also show actual prejudice. State v. Feregrino, 756 N.W.2d 700, 708 (Iowa 2008), *overruling* State v. Stallings, 658 N.W.2d 106, 111 (Iowa 2003). Because the record on appeal is inadequate to resolve the issue of prejudice, this ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim may be raised in postconviction relief proceedings. See Iowa Code § 814.7 (2015).

bench trial was held on July 10, 2015, on the predicate indecent exposure charge in SRCR369368. (Trial and GP Cover). The district court ruled from the bench and found Steiger guilty. (Trial and GP Tr. p. 77, L. 20-p. 79, L. 2). Steiger thereafter stipulated in open court to two prior convictions to support the sentencing enhancement for a third or subsequent offense under Iowa Code section 901A.2(2). (Trial and GP Tr. p. 79, L. 12-p. 80, L. 18). See Iowa Code § 901A.2(2) (2015). Steiger also entered a guilty plea in court to the predicate indecent exposure charge in SRCR369403 that same day. (Trial and GP Tr. p. 82, L. 5-p. 86, L. 8; Order Accepting Plea SRCR369403 – 7/10/15) (App. pp. 40-42). His stipulation in SRCR369368 was incorporated by reference for purposes of his guilty plea in SRCR369403. (Trial and GP Tr. p. 85, L. 11-16).

Sentencing was held on September 3, 2015, in both cases. (Sentencing Order SRCR369403 – 9/03/15; Sentencing Order SRCR369368 – 9/03/15) (App. pp. 40-42, 80-83). The court sentenced Steiger to concurrent terms of incarceration not exceeding ten (10) years in SRCR369368 and one (1) year in

SRCR369403. (Sentencing Order SRCR369403 – 9/03/15; Sentencing Order SRCR369368 – 9/03/15) (App. pp. 40-42, 88-83). Pursuant to Iowa Code section 903B.2, the court additionally imposed the special sentence of ten (10) years of parole supervision to commence upon the completion of the above sentences. (Sentencing Order SRCR369403 – 9/03/15; Sentencing Order SRCR369368 – 9/03/15) (App. pp. 40-42, 80-83). Steiger was also assessed the minimum fines (with payment suspended), surcharges on the fines, court costs, and attorney fees. (Sentencing Order SRCR369403 – 9/03/15; Sentencing Order SRCR369368 – 9/03/15) (App. pp. 40-42, 80-83).

Steiger filed timely notice of appeal on September 25, 2015, in both cases; this appeal followed. (Notice of Appeal SRCR369403 – 9/25/15; Notice of Appeal SRCR369368 – 9/25/15) (App. pp. 47, 84).

Facts: Facts pertinent to the appeal will be mentioned below.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court erred in accepting the defendant's stipulation in SRCR369368 to prior convictions for purposes of the sentencing enhancement as third or subsequent offense under Iowa Code section 901A.2(2). The court failed to engage in a sufficient colloquy to ensure that the defendant's affirmation was entered voluntarily and intelligently.

Preservation of Error: In the context of a guilty plea, a defendant must generally file a motion in arrest of judgment to preserve a challenge to the plea on appeal. State v. Meron, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004); see also Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a). However, “this requirement does not apply where a defendant was never advised during the plea proceedings, as required by Rule 2.8(2)(d), that challenges to the plea must be made in a motion in arrest of judgment and that the failure to challenge the plea by filing the motion within the time provided prior to sentencing precludes a right to assert the challenge on appeal.” Meron, 675 N.W.2d at 540; see also Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d).

Because a defendant's admission of prior convictions for purposes of a sentencing enhancement "is so closely analogous to a plea of guilty," our courts "refer to our rules governing guilty pleas" in determining the procedure which must be followed in accepting such admissions. State v. Brady, 442 N.W.2d 57, 58 (Iowa 1989); see also State v. Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d 687, 693 (Iowa 2005) (indicating that once it is "determined that the defendant desires to admit the prior convictions" under Rule 2.19(9) the court must "make a personal inquiry" as outlined in Rule 2.8(2)(b)). Steiger contends that the stipulation of prior offenses for purposes of a sentencing enhancement should be reviewed the same as challenges to guilty plea proceedings; that is, in accordance with our motion in arrest of judgment principals. Cf. State v. Peterson, No. 11-1409, 2012 WL 3860730, *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 6, 2012) (where district court made insufficient motion in arrest of judgment advisement, challenge to prior-offense stipulation would be decided directly).

In the present case, Steiger did not file any motion in arrest of judgment challenging his stipulation to the prior

offenses for purposes of the sentencing enhancement under Iowa Code section 901A.2(2). However, such failure does not preclude a challenge to his stipulation on direct appeal because the district court failed to advise Steiger either (1.) of the right to challenge defects in his stipulation by filing a motion in arrest of judgment or (2.) that the failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment would preclude him from challenging his stipulation on appeal as required under Rule 2.8(2)(d). (Trial and GP Tr. p. 79, L. 7-p. 80, L. 18).

Standard of Review: Claims of error in guilty plea proceedings are reviewed for correction of errors at law. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.907; see also Meron, 675 N.W.2d at 540. Since the prior-offense stipulation procedure is analogous to guilty plea proceedings, review is also for correction of errors at law. Cf. Brady, 442 N.W.2d at 58 (holding that a defendant's admission of prior felony convictions which provide the predicate for sentencing as an habitual offender is so closely analogous to a plea of guilty that it is appropriate to refer to our rules governing guilty pleas).

Discussion: Steiger respectfully submits that the district court erred in accepting his stipulation to prior convictions for purposes of the sentencing enhancement as a third or subsequently offense pursuant to Iowa Code § 901A.2(2). The court failed to engage in a sufficient colloquy to ensure that Steiger's affirmation was entered voluntarily and intelligently.

Where a defendant is alleged to be subject to enhanced punishment based on prior offenses, the defendant must first be convicted of the underlying offense and then, if found guilty, is entitled to a second trial on the prior convictions. Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d at 691. The State is held to the same "beyond a reasonable doubt" burden of proof in the trial on the enhancement as in the trial on the underlying conviction. Id. In addition to establishing that "the defendant is the same person named in the convictions" the "State must also establish that the defendant was either represented by counsel when previously convicted or knowingly waived counsel." Id.

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9) provides that "the offender shall have the opportunity in open court to affirm or

deny that the offender is the person previously convicted, or that the offender was not represented by counsel and did not waive counsel.” Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9). Thus, the rule “gives the defendant an opportunity to affirm or deny the allegations the State is obligated to prove at the second trial.” Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d at 692.

However, “[a]n affirmative response by the defendant under [Rule 2.19(9)]... does not necessarily serve as an admission to support the imposition of an enhanced penalty as a multiple offender.” Id. Rather, “[t]he court has a duty to conduct a further inquiry, similar to the colloquy required under rule 2.8(2), prior to sentencing to ensure that the affirmation is voluntary and intelligent.” Id. This is because, although Rule 2.8(2)(b) governing guilty pleas does not *expressly* apply to enhancements, a “defendant’s admission of prior... convictions which provide the predicate for sentencing [enhancements] is so closely analogous to a plea of guilty that it is appropriate to refer to our rules governing guilty pleas....” Brady, 442 N.W.2d at 58. “[T]rial courts have a duty to ensure

that defendants knowingly and voluntarily stipulate to having prior convictions,” State v. McBride, 625 N.W.2d 372, 374-75 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001), and Iowa “Rule [of Criminal Procedure] 2.8(2)(b) codifies [the] due process mandate” courts must follow in accepting admissions of guilt, State v. Loye, 670 N.W.2d 141, 151 (Iowa 2003).

It is well-established that for an admission of guilt to be voluntary or intelligent a defendant must first be informed of the various trial rights being given up, the nature of the offense being admitted, and the minimum and maximum punishments. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b); State v. Sisco, 169 N.W.2d 542, 546 (Iowa 1969). Before a court accepts a guilty plea, it must also ensure the plea is made with a factual basis. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b).

Steiger’s case proceeded to a bench trial on the predicate offense of indecent exposure, a serious misdemeanor in violation of Iowa Code section 709.9. (Trial Information SRCR369368 – 5/20/15) (App. pp. 48-50). See Iowa Code §§ 709.9 (2015) (indecent exposure is a serious misdemeanor) and

903.1(1)(b) (2015) (for a serious misdemeanor, the defendant shall be fined at least \$315 but not exceeding \$625 and the defendant may be subject to imprisonment not exceeding one year). The district court ruled from the bench and found Steiger guilty of the charge. (Trial and GP Tr. p. 77, L. 20-p. 79, L. 2). Immediately thereafter, the following record was made regarding Steiger's stipulation to prior incidence exposure offenses:

[PROSECUTOR]:At this point, I do think because I filed prior offenses on the trial information, that it is my obligation to prove some of the priors that would be used for sentencing. I do have three certified copies of three of Mr. Steiger's prior convictions. I do not know if we – I think we maybe should have a hearing unless you want to stipulate.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: We'll stipulate.

[PROSECUTOR]: Okay. So I won't present those if you're going to stipulate that he does have – I have records here for three. I charged five. So I don't know if you stipulate to more than two.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: We'll stipulate to two.

[PROSECUTOR]: All right.

THE COURT: All right. So we're talking about one from South Carolina.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: We're talking about the ones in Scott County.

[PROSECUTOR]: I've got two here from Scott County and I also have a certified from Pinellas County, Florida.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I'm not sure what Pinellas County, Florida's definition of indecent exposure is, but I think probably the two in Scott County are sufficient.

THE COURT: I have got notice of one in South Carolina and one in Mississippi in addition to the one here.

[PROSECUTOR]: I was unable to obtain certified copies of the convictions from Mississippi or South Carolina.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Well, the government just needs two from Scott County.

THE COURT: So those have been stipulated to, their existence?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yeah.

(Trial and GP Tr. p. 79, L. 12-p. 80, L. 18).

The district court here failed to sufficiently advise Steiger of the nature of the sentencing enhancement as a third or subsequent offense pursuant to Iowa Code section 901A.2(2).

More specifically, Steiger was not informed that in order for the prior convictions to qualify under Rule 2.19(9) they must have been entered with the assistance of counsel or following a valid waiver of counsel. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(1); see also Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d at 691 (stating in addition to establishing “the defendant is the same person named in the convictions” the “State must also establish that the defendant was either represented by counsel when previously convicted or knowingly waived counsel.”); Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9) (similarly reciting requirements).

The district court further failed to inform Steiger of the applicable penalties for the sentencing enhancement under Iowa Code section 902.A.2(2). (Trial and GP Tr. p. 79, L. 12-p. 81, L. 18). See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(2). Iowa Code section 901A.2(2) states:

A person convicted of a sexually predatory offense which is a serious or aggravated misdemeanor, who has two or more convictions for sexually predatory offenses, shall be sentenced to and shall serve a period of incarceration of ten years, notwithstanding any other provision of the Code to the contrary. A person sentenced under this subsection shall not

have the person's sentenced reduced under chapter 903A or otherwise by more than fifteen percent.

Iowa Code § 901A.2(2) (2015).

As well, the district court did not inform Steiger of the various trial rights he had and was giving up by stipulating to the sentencing enhancement. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(4)-(5). All the prosecutor indicated at the outset was that it was his "obligation to prove some of the priors that would be used for sentencing." (Trial and GP Tr. P. 79, L. 13-15).

Finally, the record of the stipulation did not establish that Steiger's prior convictions qualified under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9). See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9). The factual basis for a guilty plea must be disclosed in the record. State v. Rodriguez, 804 N.W.2d 844, 849 (Iowa 2011). During the court's colloquy on the stipulation, Steiger's counsel acknowledged that Steiger had the two predicate convictions out of Scott County to support the sentencing enhancement under Iowa Code section 901A.2(2). (Trial and GP Tr. p. 80, L. 14-16). However, the court did not conduct a further inquiry to

determine whether those prior convictions were entered with the assistance of counsel or following a valid waiver of counsel. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(b)(1); see also Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d at 691 (stating in addition to establishing “the defendant is the same person named in the convictions” the “State must also establish that the defendant was either represented by counsel when previously convicted or knowingly waived counsel.”); Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9) (similarly reciting requirements). While defense counsel acknowledged that Steiger was the person previously convicted, the *validity* of those convictions was not admitted. Moreover, there was no other evidence offered at the time of the stipulation to establish that Steiger’s prior convictions qualified for the sentencing enhancement.

In light of the foregoing infirmities, Steiger’s stipulation was void as it was neither voluntary nor intelligent and the record on the stipulation did not establish that his prior convictions qualified under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9). Kukowski, 704 N.W.2d at 692; Loye, 670 N.W.2d at 151; Sisco, 169 N.W.2d at 546. The district court’s failure to

substantially comply with the requirements of Rule 2.8(2)(b)(2) constitutes reversible error. Meron, 675 N.W.2d at 542.

Because the court did not advise Steiger of motion in arrest of judgment rights or obligations, reversal on direct appeal is not precluded by Steiger's failure to file such motion in the district court. Id. The proper remedy is to reverse his stipulation to the sentencing enhancement and remand to the district court for further stipulation proceedings pursuant to Rule 2.19(9) and 2.8(2)(b) or trial on Steiger's status as third or subsequent offender. Cf. id. at 542-44.

II. The defendant's guilty plea to the offense of indecent exposure, in violation of Iowa Code section 709.9, in SRCR369403 was not entered knowingly and voluntarily because the district court did not substantially comply with the requirements of Rule 2.8(2)(b).

Preservation of Error: "Generally, a defendant must file a motion in arrest of judgment to preserve a challenge to a guilty plea on appeal." State v. Meron, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004); see also Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a). Steiger did not file a motion in arrest of judgment challenging the validity of his guilty plea. However, failure to file a motion in arrest of

judgment does not preclude challenging the plea on direct appeal if the district court did not properly advise the defendant of the preclusive effect of such failure, as required under Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(d). State v. Loye, 670 N.W.2d 141, 150 (Iowa 2003); see also Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d).

In the present case, the district court engaged in the following colloquy regarding the motion in arrest of judgment.

THE COURT: You want to explain to him his right to file a motion in arrest of judgment?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I will.

(An off-the-record discussion was held between the Defendant and his Attorney.)

THE COURT: Have you explained his right to file the motion?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I did, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you think he understands that?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: He does.

THE COURT: I think that will conclude it for this afternoon then.

(The record was closed at this time.)

(Trial and GP Tr. p. 87, L. 13-25).

Rule 2.8(2)(d) clearly imposes two requirements. Meron 675 N.W.2d at 541. First, the district court “must inform the defendant that any challenges to a plea of guilty based on alleged defects in the plea proceeding must be raised in a motion in arrest of judgment.” Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8(2)(d). Second, the court must inform the defendant “that failure to so raise such challenges shall preclude the right to assert them on appeal.” Id. Even considering the assurances that counsel for Steiger explained the right to file a motion in arrest of judgment, this guarantee would be insufficient to satisfy the second element of rule. 2.8(2)(d). Meron, 675 N.W.2d at 541. The court never asked Steiger if his attorney also discussed the consequences of failing to file a motion. Accordingly, Steiger is not precluded from challenging his plea on appeal.

Standard of Review: Claims of error in guilty plea proceedings are reviewed for correction of errors at law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.907; Meron, 675 N.W.2d at 540.

Discussion: Steiger respectfully submits that his guilty plea to the offense of indecent exposure, in violation of Iowa

Code section 709.9, in SRCR369403 was not entered knowingly and voluntarily because the plea colloquy did not substantially comply with Rule 2.8(2)(b).

Rule 2.8(2)(b) implements the constitutional due process standards for acceptance of a guilty plea. State v. Ramirez, 636 N.W.2d 740, 741–42 (Iowa 2001). Before accepting a plea of guilty, rule 2.8(2)(b) requires the court to determine if the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and has made a factual basis. State v. Kirchoff, 452 N.W.2d 801, 804 (Iowa 1990). To satisfy this requirement the court is required to make a specific inquiry into a number of matters set forth in the rule. See id. at 804-05. Absent a written guilty plea describing all the matters set forth in the rule, noncompliance with oral requirements of the rule normally constitutes reversible error. See State v. Hook, 623 N.W.2d 865, 871 (Iowa 2001), *abrogated in part on other grounds by State v. Barnes*, 652 N.W. 466, 468 (Iowa 2002).

Pursuant to rule 2.8(2)(b), the court must address the defendant personally in open court and inform the defendant of,

and determine that the defendant understands, the following:

- (1) The nature of the charge to which the plea is offered.
- (2) The mandatory minimum punishment, if any, and the maximum possible punishment provided by the statute defining the offense to which the plea is offered.
- (3) That a criminal conviction, deferred judgment, or deferred sentence may affect a defendant's status under federal immigration laws.
- (4) That the defendant has the right to be tried by a jury, and at trial has the right to assistance of counsel, the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against the defendant, the right not to be compelled to incriminate oneself, and the right to present witnesses in the defendant's own behalf and to have compulsory process in securing their attendance.
- (5) That if the defendant pleads guilty there will not be a further trial of any kind, so that by pleading guilty the defendant waives the right to a trial.

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