IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 15-1630

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JOHNNIE RAY STEIGER,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR SCOTT COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS MCDONALD, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**KELLI HUSER**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
(515) 281-4902 (fax)  
[kelli.huser2@iowa.gov](mailto:kelli.huser2@iowa.gov)

MICHAEL WALTON  
Scott County Attorney

JOSH SIMS  
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

**

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The District Court Properly Accepted the Defendant's Stipulation to Prior Convictions Under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9).**

#### **Preservation of Error**

The defendant has not preserved error on this claim when he did not challenge his prior convictions at or before his habitual offender hearing. Unlike many sentencing claims, a challenge to the convictions upon which a habitual offender enhancement is based must be raised prior to or at the hearing. *See* Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9); *see also State v. Spoonmore*, 323 N.W.2d 202, 203 (Iowa 1982) (finding the defendant waived his claim when he failed to make timely objection prior to his trial on the underlying charge); *State v. Long*, 814 N.W.2d 572, 580 (Iowa 2012) (implying the defendant may

have waived his objection, but declining to review the issue when the State did not appeal on the waiver issue). *But see State v. Kukowski*, 704 N.W.2d 687, 690 (Iowa 2005) (permitting a defendant to use a motion in arrest of judgment to challenge the district court's interpretation of the rule).

The defendant argues this proceeding is substantially similar to a guilty plea; thus the defendant may avoid his duty to preserve error because the district court failed to inform him of the consequences of failing to file a motion in arrest of judgment. But a stipulation to prior convictions is not a guilty plea. *See State v. Woody*, 613 N.W.2d 215, 217 (Iowa 2000). Further, the rule governing the defendant's admission of prior convictions does not mention a requirement to file a motion in arrest of judgment. Instead, it recognizes that the defendant must make some objections prior to or at the time of trial. *See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9)*.

The defendant had the opportunity to challenge the convictions before or at the time of the habitual offender hearing. He chose not to do so. He has waived error on this claim.

## **Standard of Review**

The State agrees that the standard of review is correction of errors at law, but disagrees on the defendant's reasoning. The defendant challenges the procedure the district court used under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9), which explains what is required for a colloquy for sentencing enhancements. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9). An appellate court reviews interpretation of a rule for correction of errors at law. *See Kukowski*, 704 N.W.2d at 690.

## **Merits**

The defendant argues his stipulation to his prior convictions for a sentencing enhancement under Iowa Code section 901A.2 was not knowing or voluntary. The district court's colloquy was proper when the defendant had his attorney act on his behalf to stipulate to the prior convictions.

The sentencing enhancement at issue is Iowa Code section 901A.2(2). This portion of the statute provides

A person convicted of a sexually predatory offense which is a serious or aggravated misdemeanor, who has two or more prior convictions for sexually predatory offenses, shall be sentenced to and shall serve a period of incarceration of ten years, notwithstanding any other provision of the Code to the contrary.



Iowa Code § 901A.2(2).

The defendant's stipulation to prior convictions is not a guilty plea. A habitual offender sentencing enhancement is not a separate offense. *Woody*, 613 N.W.2d at 217. This is because habitual-offender statutes provide only for enhanced punishment on the charged offense. *Id.* The defendant does not plead guilty to a habitual offender "charge." *Id.* Instead, the defendant admits the prior convictions. *Id.*

Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9) controls the procedure for accepting a defendant's stipulation for purposes of sentencing enhancements. Under Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(9), an offender must receive the opportunity to admit or deny in open court prior convictions that may increase a sentence. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.19(9). The offender may deny the prior convictions and receive another hearing. If a defendant admits to the prior convictions, trial courts have a duty to ensure that this stipulation is knowing and voluntarily. *State v. McBride*, 625 N.W.2d 372, 374-75 (Iowa Ct. App. 2001). "In order to knowingly stipulate, a defendant should have an adequate grasp of the implications of his or her stipulation." *Id.* at 375.

The defendant may stipulate to his prior convictions through his attorney. The defendant is not required to personally address the court. *Kukowski*, 704 N.W.2d at 693. In fact, in *Kukowski* the defendant defended his ability to choose not to speak directly to the court; the Iowa Supreme Court then held that the attorney can provide the information sought in the rule on behalf of the defendant. *See id.* (“As in an arraignment, an attorney can provide the information sought by a rule on behalf of the defendant.”).

Here, the district court properly accepted the defendant’s stipulation when the defendant spoke through his attorney to stipulate to the prior convictions. The following colloquy occurred:

[PROSECUTOR]: Yes. At this point, I do think because I charged prior offenses on the trial information, that it is my obligation to prove some of the priors that would be used for sentencing. I do have three certified copies of three of Mr. Steiger’s prior convictions. I do not know if we – I think we maybe should have a hearing unless you want to stipulate.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: We’ll stipulate.

Trial Tr. 79, lines 12-19. Defense counsel then clarified that the stipulation was to two prior convictions from Scott County. Trial Tr. 79, lines 20-25; 80, lines 1-18.

The defendant chose to speak through his attorney to stipulate to his prior convictions. Under *Kukowski*, he had that right. When the district court gave him the opportunity to speak, the defendant did not deny being the person previously convicted and he did not assert that he lacked counsel for the prior convictions. There is nothing in this record to show that the defendant failed to understand the nature of the stipulation. See *State v. Oetken*, 613 N.W.2d 679, 688 (Iowa 2000) (“There is nothing in the record to indicate Oetken failed to understand the nature of an habitual offender decree, or the significance of his admission.”).

The defendant improperly equates the stipulation colloquy with a rule 2.8 colloquy. The district court is not required under any authority to conduct a full rule 2.8(2)(b) colloquy whenever a defendant stipulates to his prior convictions. Rule 2.8(2)(b) is “a useful analytical tool”, nothing more, in this context. *McBride*, 625 N.W.2d at 374 (“[T]o reiterate, no authority requires a full rule 8(2)(b) colloquy when such stipulations are made.”).

The district court acted properly under the rule when it gave the defendant the opportunity to admit or deny the prior convictions, and

the defendant chose to speak through his attorney to stipulate. The State asks this Court to affirm the sentencing enhancement.

**II. The State Acknowledges the District Court Did Not Substantially Comply With Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8 for the Defendant's Guilty Plea to Indecent Exposure.**

**Preservation of Error**

The State admits the defendant may raise this argument because the district court's colloquy was insufficient. *See* Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a) (requiring a motion in arrest of judgment to challenge the guilty plea); *see also State v. Loye*, 670 N.W.2d 141, 150 (Iowa 2003) (recognizing an exception when the district court does not convey that the defendant's failure to file the motion will cause the defendant to lose his right to appeal).

The only discussion of a motion in arrest of judgment was as follows:

THE COURT: You want to explain to him his right to file a motion in arrest of judgment?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I will

(an off-the-record discussion was held between the Defendant and his Attorney.)

THE COURT: Have you explained his right to file the motion?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I did, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you think he understands that?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: He does.

THE COURT: I think that will conclude it for this afternoon then.

Trial Tr. 87, lines 13-24.

The State admits this colloquy was insufficient because it did not explain either that the defendant had 45 days to challenge the guilty plea, or that the failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment would forfeit his right to challenge the appeal. Therefore the State acknowledges that the defendant did not need to file a motion in arrest of judgment to raise this claim on appeal.

### **Standard of Review**

The defendant argues the district court did not comply with guilty plea procedures. An appellate court reviews this claim for correction of errors at law. *See State v. Meron*, 675 N.W.2d 537, 540 (Iowa 2004).

### **Merits**

Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.8(2)(b) requires the district court to address the defendant in open court on the following matters:

- (1) The nature of the charge to which the plea is offered.

(2) The mandatory minimum punishment, if any, and the maximum possible punishment provided by the statute defining the offense to which the plea is offered.

(3) That a criminal conviction, deferred judgment, or deferred sentence may affect a defendant's status under federal immigration laws.

(4) That the defendant has the right to be tried by a jury, and at trial has the right to assistance of counsel, the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against the defendant, the right not to be compelled to incriminate oneself, and the right to present witnesses in the defendant's own behalf and to have compulsory process in securing their attendance.

(5) That if the defendant pleads guilty there will not be a further trial of any kind, so that by pleading guilty the defendant waives the right to a trial.

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8. The rule permits the defendant to waive these procedures in a plea to a serious or aggravated misdemeanor. Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.8. Generally absent a written guilty plea, noncompliance with the oral requirements of rule 2.8 constitutes reversible error. *Meron*, 675 N.W.2d at 542.

The State acknowledges that the district court did not substantially comply with Rule 2.8. In six pages of transcript, nearly four pages address the factual basis. See Trial Tr. 82, lines 11-25; 83,

lines 1-25; 84, lines 1-25; 85, lines 1-16. After concluding a factual basis existed, the following occurred:

THE COURT: All right. Any reason why I shouldn't accept his plea of guilty to the charge? Mr. Sims, are you satisfied?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yes

THE COURT: How do you plead then to the charge of indecent exposure, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: Have there been any threats or promises made to get you to plead guilty to this?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You said no?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, Your Honor.  
No.

Trial Tr. 85, lines 17-25; 86, lines 1-3. The district court accepted the guilty plea and the last two pages of transcript discuss setting a sentencing date. Trial Tr. 86, lines 4-25; 87, lines 1-25.

This record does not show that the district court mentioned maximum or minimum punishments or the defendant's trial rights. *See generally* Trial Transcript pages 82-87. The State therefore acknowledges that the district court did not substantially comply with

rule 2.8. The proper remedy is to remand for a new guilty plea hearing. *Meron*, 675 N.W.2d at 544.

### **CONCLUSION**

The defendant stipulated to his prior convictions through his defense attorney, as he was permitted to do. The district court did not err when it accepted the stipulation. The State admits the plea colloquy for the defendant's second indecent exposure conviction was insufficient under rule 2.8. The State requests this Court affirm on the stipulation issue and reverse and remand for a new guilty plea hearing on the plea colloquy issue.



## REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

The State believes oral argument is unnecessary to decide this case and will not "be of assistance to the Court." See Iowa R. App. P. 6.908.